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GOOO HOPE CEMETERY, DENTON COUNTY, TEXAS:

ITS HISTORY AND COMMUNITY

Elaine A. Ledlow

The Good Hope Cemetery is located in eastern Denton County,
Texas, and for more than 115 years has been a free burial place
not only for its founders and their descendants, but also for any
others of its area. The cemetery, still in use and well main-
tained, remains as visible evidence of stalwart settlers, whag,
in the winter of 3853/1854, came in wagons and located in this
part of Denton County. 1In this sparsely settled section they
.found the rich resources of fertile farm land, creeks and springs,
.and plentiful timber and pasturage on which to base a self-suffi-
cient community of farmers and livestock raisers. They settled
themselves on both sides aof Dge Branch, which flows on into
Little Elm Creek, and started the building of their log homes
and made plans for a meeting-house for church and school.1

This colony was first known as the Rue Settlement because
the largest family groups were thase of the brothers, Jacob and
Lewis Rue. They, along with the other Missouri families of Ben
Armstrong, Pete Hutchersaon (or Hutchison), and Rev. W. P. Renison,
are credited with building a brush arbor for church meetings as
soan as they arrived.2 The Rue brothers were married ta Weeden
sisters, of Missouri, and their sister, Mary Rue, was the wife
of Ben Renison, who had also come to the settlement.

The three sons of Jacob Rue who were old enough to apply for
land shortly after their arrival, were: Benjamin L., Hiram, and

Jahn B. Rue.3 The Texas General Land Office, in its Abstract of

All Original Texas Land Titles, records the following sequence




of original gra...s, issued on July 27 and 143, 1859; Abstracts,
#1109, Jacob Rue; #1110, Lewis Rue; #1111, Hiram Rue; #1112,

John B. Rue; and #1113, Benjamin L. Rue. Each received 160 acres
except Lewis Rue, recorded as 159 acres. It was land out of the
Ben L. Rue survey which was used later as the site for Good Hope
Cemetery and far the nearby meeting-house, which was used for

bath church and school.4

Ed. F, Bates' Histary and Reminiscences of Denton County,

(1918), 1lists these Rue Settlement pioneers: Louis (Lewis) Rue,
Jake Rue, Ben Rue, Pete Rue, Bill Rue, Dan Rue, B. R, Hodges,
John R. Hodges, Rev. Barnett Ware (or Wear), Rev. William Ware,
Rev., Jim Burnes, Phil Barnes, Jahn Yeates, Dave Yeates, Jay Jones,
" Ben Yeates, Pete Hutchison, Mr. Ferguson, Petway Ferguson, Ples
" Ferguson, C. Copenhavier, Louis Phillips, Steve Oyle, Bill Phillips,
Josh Burks, Carroll Jacksan, Phil Teeters, James Spencer, Ike Haws,
Tom Button, and Marion Jackson.5 According to the 1860 Denton
County Census, these pioneers' birth states included Missouri,
Tennessee, Georgia, Arkansas, Wisconsin, and others.s'
There are few recﬁrds available for the next years because

of the December 1875 fire which d;stroyed the Denton County court-
house. The Federal Census records, State tax lists, and State
land records provide certain information about the settlers,

| In 1868 Ben L. Rue sold his land to Carrall Jackson, who
had moved from Missouri tao the Rue Settlément. The deed for this
transaction states that a tract of about four acres had been cut
out to be used Far a church and school.7 Ben Rue then moved to
Fannin County, Texas. In 1869 other Rues sold about 400 acfes

of land to Carroll Jacksonfaand some of Jacksgn's descendants have

continued to live on part of that property.”
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From the founding of this settlement its members had been
intent on having their church, Reverend B. R, Hodges, stock
raiser, with assistanceaf’others, soon organized a Cumberland
Presbyterian church, possibly the first in Oenton Caunty., Nd
records of this church, which became imactive in 1925, have hbeen
located. However, it is believed by descendants of the pioneers
that the church began in 1854, the same year in which the Cum-
berland Presbyterian Church of Flower Mound, southern Dentan
County, was established.g The Rue Settlement church meetings
were held in the one-room log meeting house which had been built
for the dual purpase of church and school. It stood about 300
feet northwest of the present north gate of Good Hope Cemetery.

In 1875 a Baptist church was organized on Dge Branch near
the home aof Carroll Jackson, and it was named Good Hope Baptist
Church. 0n alternate Sundays the Baptist and Presbyterian con-
gregations used the meeting-house. 1In good weather the congre-
gations met outdoors.10 The name, Good Hope, thus became tﬁe
name of the community originally known as the Rue Settlemént.\\
Later the name, Parvin, was used fos a long interval; however,
the name reverted to Good Hope.

In 1878 the Good Hope meeting-house was destroyed by a storm.
The Presbyterians moved less than a mile away where they built
their church in the cluster of a few houses, a stare, and a
blacksmith §hop; this place was called Parvin. The Cumberland
Presbyterian Church here remained in use until 1925, when it
burned. Then, instead gf rebuilding, the members joined churches

at the nearby town of Praosper, in Collin County, or other churches

in the area.11
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The Baptists, after the 1878 loss of the-Good Hope meeting-
house, moved a few miles eastward to Pleasant Valley, and named
their new church there as the Providence Baptist Church.12 Later
that congregation divided and one group again magved eastward to
a location known as Richland, and used that name far the church.
Other members returned to Parvin in 1885 and organized themselves
as the Providence Baptist Church. Another name change occurred
in July 1894 when the Providence church became Good Hope Baptist

13 "This church, which was built in Parvin, continued

Church,
operation until sometime in 1973/74 when it disbanded, the last
pastor of record being m} D. Bishop, then of Celina, according to

the Texas Baptist Annual far 1974, 1%

In the Handbook of Texas (1952), Parvin is described by

Lorena Bates Smith as:

Parvin: a Denton County ghost community on the Collin
County line, was called the Rue Settlement in 1854
when it was the site of a log building which served
both as school and Presbyterian church. The name was
changed to honor Henry Parvin, a local landowner. The
settlement had a store, a blacksmith shop, a Baptist
church, and a few houses. A piqgeer cemetery with
many sandstone markers remains.

L ]

The name, Parvin is still heard st times; a shart road
leading from farm road #1385 to the cemetery, is named Parvin
Road, North from State highway 380, about 15 m;les east from
Denton, is Good Hope Road, which also leads to tﬁe Cemetery.

The small Good Hope school continued to be known by that
name throughout most of its existence. (Parvin was sometimes
used, or added to the Gaod Hope name.) A simple local school
arrangement was in effect during the first twenty years or more.
One of its first teachers was Tolman C. Weeden, age 26, a nephew

of Mary and Rachel Weeden, wives of Jacob and Lewis Rue.16



The Texas Cuwistitution of 1876 establisned the community
school system, which allowed any group of parents to organize
themselves into a school community and apply for state funds.

An annual reorganization of such groups was required.17 In the
Denton County Commissioners Court Minutes of 1877, the Good Hope

18

School was enumerated. In 1878 the following appeared in the

County Judge's School Record far Oenton County, page 22;:

On the day of August 1878 a petition was fFiled
by Carrol Jackson and others in my office, praying
that a School Community be organized at Good Hope.
Said petition has been examined and it is hereby
ordered that the signers to said petition are con-
stituted and recognized as Good Hope Schoal Commu-
nity, No. 61. It is fFurther ordered that the sum
of $54,00 be credited on the books of the County
Treasurer for the benefit of said Community, to be
applied to the maintenance of their Public Free
School. It is further ordered, that A, B, Jamison,
A. C. Stone, and Carrol Jackson be and are appointed
Trustees faor said School Community.

/s/ C. C. Scruggsg
.County Judge

The Couniy Judge's School Record for 1888 showed benefits
\

of $423,20 being allowed to Goaod Hope School, in precinct 2.

Records for the school, often with the addéd name of Parvin,
continued to be shown on Denton Couety school records until 1949,
at which time the school consolidation law was put intg effect.
The Good Hope students were transferred to Denton, the county seat,
or to Prosper (Collin County) with bus service provided. 20 Former
students remember well their years in this small rural school, and
value their pictures of it. A 1910 photograph shows about fifty
students, with gne teacher, who was identified as Professor Brcwun.z1
Although it became recognized as a two-year high school, it

remained a small school. A 1925 Denton Record-Chronicle article
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reported that an additional room was being\édded to the Good Hope

School to accommodate a third teacher, needed because of increased

enrallment.22

Throughout all these years the Goad Hope Cemetery remained a
focal point for its coémunity. Its land was in use for burials
for more than thirty years before it was deeded to the Goad Hope
Cemetery Association, which was organized May 9, 1903.23 In"®
1904, J. W. Wray, first president of the Association, asked Ben
L. Rue, then of .Fannin County, to transfer to the Association
the four acres hé had retained for caommunity purposes when, in
1868, he had sold his land to Carroll Jackson. This deed of
the land to the Association was signed May 10, 1904, and it is

recorded in Denton County Deed Records, valume 89, page 555. It

states that the transfer was made for the payment of $1.00 by
the Cemetery Association.24 In a letter of May 1, 1904, Ben L.
Rue wrote to a cousin in Good Hope that he had asked Mr. Wray if
the cemetery would then be for a particular denomination, and
that he was assured that it would be for all.25 Thus, 45 years

after its acquisition, Ben L. Rue _and wife, Mary J., transferred

/

the four acres of land described as:

Tract or parcel of land situated in Dentan Caunty,
Texas, and being a part of the B. L. Rue survey,
abstract no. 1113, and described as follows:
beginning at the most Southern South East corner
of the tract of land described in the deed from

B. L. Rue et al. to Carroll Jackson, dated QOctober
30th, 1868, and now recorded in volume M, pages
102 and 103 of the Deed Records of Denton County,
Texas, Thence narth 10 chains to an inner ell
corner of said tract, Thence east four chains to
to the p%gce of beginning, containing four acres
of land.



A survey of the cemetery was made in 1933 by Grover C. Rue,
secretary-treasurer of the Good Hope Cemetery Association, and

others. A location number was given to each marked grave, aof which

there were 391.27 It is reported, and almost certainly is correct,

that there are numerous unmarked graves.28 The 1952 Handbook of

JTexas account, "Parvin," states that there was "a pioneer cemetery
with many sandstone markers."” Almost no sandstone markers remain
at this time. Some have been replaced by newer stone markers.

There are no-records of the first use of this burial ground.
At least three members aof the early Rue families are probably buried
there in unmarked graves; The earliest record is that of Hiram Rue,

who died October 23, 1859, according to the 1860 Texas Mortality

-Schedule.zg Mary F. Weeden Rue, first wife of Jacgb Rue, and
'their son, John B. Rue, are known to have died before 1868,30
and descendants believe that they are buried iﬁ this cemetery, which
is located about a quarter-mile from Jacaob Rue's cabin site. Later
cemetery caretakers report that other markers have been lost at
times when heavy rains flowed acrﬁss a part of the cemetery, which
is -located on land slaoping down tqyérd Oce Branch. That drainage
strip has been partially filled, and is now grass-caovered; mare
Filling is scheduled. Some years ago a lady of the community planted
bluebonnets here. Under consideration now is the planting of some
native trees in the open area.

The earliest legible marker in Good Hope Cemetery is that of
John Phillips, age 21, who died March 18, 1870. He was born in
Illinois and was son of William and Susan A. Phillips, who were
born in Ohio and Kentucky respectively.31 Both are buried in the
block with their son. Mr. P. W. Renison's marker is the next

earliest, November 7, 1870. 1Inscriptions on 3 markers show. that
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the burials oceurred more than a hundred years ago. Markers show
48 burials with dates from 1887 through 1899, From 1900 through
1949 there are markers for an average of 38 burials per year; and
from 1950 through 1979, an annual average of 23 burials. The
1980s average seems to be considerably lower. The earliest birth
shown is May 8, 1814, for Jane M. Adams, who died in 1900; next
is that of Lewis R, Rue, born May 1, 1817, and died May 13, 1903.
Military service (Civil War, World Wars I and II, or Korea) is
recorded on a number of markers.32

Under a large pecan tree in the east part of the cemetery
is a single child's marker, with inscription: *“gur Darling/
Covis Salasar/ Nico el § Agosto 1924/ y Muria el 8§ Agosto 1924,"
Mr. Clarence Naugher, a former attendant for the cemetery, and
6thers, recall that earlier there were about ten markers under
this tree for pecple with Spanish names.33

When the Ggod Hope Cemetery Association was formed in May
1903, the following officers were named: J, B, Wray, president;
Petway Ferguson, vice-president; Z. D. Lewis, treasurer; and
Kitpy Jackson (Mrs. Ira 0'Dell), secretary. Named to the Board of
Oirectors were: R. H. Wheeler, wilz Curry, Jim Smith, and J. m. m,
Harper, chairman. Others who served long periods as officers
include: John Naugher, Clarence Naugher, George Ethridge, Emaory
Knapp, G. C. Rue, Sr., and J. C. Jackson. The present members of
the Board are: B8, M. Jacksan, Grover C. Rue, S. F. Peterman, Brice
Jacksaon, Charles Knapp, Victor Mace, and Tam Moore. Same of these
persans are desceﬁdants of pioneer settlers.34

An annual meeting of the Association is held an Decaoration
Day, the last Sunday in April, Business is conducted and often
there is a program with music. The Association's records of these

annual meetings, beginning with the first meeting in may 1903,
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are available. FKecorded in these are the lrstings of names (often
50 to 60) of those who attended and made donations to the cemetery's
permanent fund, The secretary-treasurer's 1985 report shows sub-
stantial funds for maintenance and equipment, Other invested funds
are designated as: Historical (marker) and Memorial (for high chain-
link fencing to replace present barbed wire Fence).ss' There is now’
a metal double‘entry gate, with the cemetery's name on its arch,

at the north entry.

In Terry G. Jordan's Texas Graveyards; A Cultural Legacy,

page 16, there is a photograph made in the Good Hope Cemetery in
1974, which Or. Jordan described in this captions "On 'Decoration
day' a descendant of Tennessean immigrants works his scraped-earth
family plot in Good Hope Cemetery in the Blackland Prairie of
Denton County. The graves in the Foregrqund are Southern Baptists,
those in the background Presbyterian.” This is in his chapter,
"The Sauthern Folk Cemetery in Texas.“36

The Good Hope community, in eastern Denton County, Texas,
beginning in 1854 as the Rue Settlement, has always been an
entity without formal incbrporation. However, it maintained its
school and churches far decades, aAE its cemetery for more than
115 years--perhaps as long as 126 years--by means of its strong
spirit of community. This trait is significantly evident in the

on-going care and preservation of its heritage in the Good Hope

Cemetery.
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